

Course of SUPERVISOR CO-SUPERVISOR CANDIDATE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	3
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	7
1.1 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	7
1.2 STAKEHOLDER THEORY	7
1.3 Institutional Theory	10
1.4 SUSTAINABLE SUPPLY-CHAIN MANAGEMENT	12
1.4.1 Green procurement	16
1.4.2 Green design and manufacturing	17
1.4.3 Green logistics	19
1.5 VERTICAL QUASI-INTEGRATION STRATEGY	21
1.6 SUPPLY-CHAIN INTEGRATION	23
1.7 RESEARCH QUESTION	25
CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	27
2.1 Research design	27
2.2 DATA COLLECTION	
2.3. RELIABILITY AND VALIDITY	
CHAPTER 3: CASE STUDY PRESENTATION	33
3.1 P&G SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY	33
CHAPTER 4: ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION	37
4.1 GENERAL FINDINGS	38
4.2 DISCUSSION	
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS	46
5.1 Managerial implications	46
5.2 THEORETICAL CONTRIBUTION	47
5.3 LIMITATION AND FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTION	
5.4 CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	52

ABSTRACT

Today's businesses face increasing uncertainty and risk in supply-chain management due to significant global disruptions, including the COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical conflicts, technological advancements, and heightened demands for sustainability.

Specifically, governments and different stakeholders are now more than ever, exerting growing pressure on both global and local companies for sustainability.

In this context, companies must pursue innovative strategies that strengthen supply-chain resilience and enhance environmental sustainability.

Through the theoretical lenses of stakeholder and institutional theory, this thesis explores the strategic role of vertical quasi-integration in achieving sustainable supply-chain management, focusing particularly on environmental aspects and green logistics.

Using a qualitative single case study approach, the research aims to demonstrate how quasi-integration practices, such as strategic partnerships and collaborative supplier-customer relationships, may effectively address sustainability issues.

Overall, the analysis reveals that vertical quasi-integration supports sustainability goals by facilitating coordinated efforts, joint investments in resources, and aligning incentives among supply-chain stakeholders.

Essential factors for success include strong relational skills, innovative technological solutions, and effective management of trade-offs.

Moreover, the study emphasizes the critical role of building trust and flexible contractual arrangements in fostering sustainable logistics.

In conclusion, this research contributes to academic knowledge by linking theories of supply-chain integration with sustainability practices. It also offers actionable insights for managers aiming to implement effective and adaptable sustainability initiatives within their integrated supply-chain networks.

Introduction

Modern businesses grapple with a tremendously high level of risk in managing their supply chain, due to a variety of factors such as the COVID-19 pandemic, the Ukrainian war, the advent of generative AI, and the pressure for sustainability (Duong, Vo, et al. 2023).

Firms operating in an uncertain environment must cope with many disruptions (Duong, Pham, et al. 2023), which have made the supply-chain networks far more vulnerable, particularly with regards to sustainability issues (Ngo et al. 2024). In the last few years, a growing body of literature has highlighted the importance of sustainability for dealing with risks of disruption (Chaudhuri et al., 2023; Karmaker et al., 2023; Rasheed, 2022).

Socio-environmental problems such as climate change, air pollution and waste management are, now more than ever, an increasingly delicate and profoundly sensitive subject, which is considered to be the future of supply chain management (Khan et al., 2021).

The European Union (EU) and European companies are pursuing net-zero carbon targets by 2050, prioritizing decarbonization efforts, particularly in manufacturing, which accounts for 20% of the region's emissions, and, more broadly, in each step of supply chains, which underscores the field's pressing need for transformation, (Steiner et al. 2024).

Accordingly, in recent years the EU has promoted numerous regulatory initiatives to enhance the sustainability of supply chains, with a particular focus on decarbonisation, reduction of carbon emissions, and circular economy.

From a regulatory perspective, the EU is shifting from a transparency-based approach to one centred on mandatory action. Indeed, in the past, companies were primarily required to disclose their environmental impact while today's directives aim to actively prevent and mitigate climate harm. For instance, the Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive (CSDDD) introduces an obligation for large companies to adopt climate transition plans aligned with the Paris

Agreement. These plans must include short and medium-term emission reduction targets based on scientific evidence, as well as outline the decarbonization measures the company will implement, (Sinnig and Zetzsche 2025).

This regulatory framework marks a fundamental shift. The CSDDD moves the focus from disclosure obligations to the active prevention of adverse impacts across the supply chain.

In other words, companies will no longer merely report on their supply chain emissions but will also be required to implement concrete measures to reduce them, facing legal liability in cases of inadequate environmental due diligence.

Moreover, the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD), which entered into force in January 2023, significantly expands and strengthens sustainability reporting requirements. This new regulatory framework mandates all large European companies, and eventually many listed SMEs, to publish detailed reports on their environmental, social, and governance (ESG) impacts. Replacing the 2014 Non-Financial Reporting Directive (NFRD), criticized for its inadequacy in supporting the Green Deal's objectives, the CSRD represents a critical step toward greater corporate accountability and transparency in sustainability practices, (Odobaša and Marošević 2023).

Indeed, the CSRD requires companies to disclose not only their emissions but also resource utilization, waste generation, climate-related risks, decarbonization strategies and circularity measures integrated into their business models.

This approach, designed by the new EU directives, combines public and private enforcement mechanisms, since both stakeholders and institutions are now, more than ever, deeply connected to the sustainability results of companies, (Sinnig and Zetzsche 2025).

In light of these considerations, the relevance of sustainability within today's socioeconomic landscape becomes undeniably clear, especially when considering the potential impact of sustainable practices in affecting companies' corporate strategy and competitive advantage (Liao & Kuo, 2014).

Accordingly, research emphasize the importance of developing sustainability

strategies that can help navigating the evolving economic landscape characterized by high uncertainty and growing challenges (Sheth & Uslay, 2023). Indeed, companies are increasingly turning to innovative strategies to enhance sustainability within their supply chains, both internally and externally.

For example, many studies have investigated the development of collaboration and coordination strategies within the supply-chain in the context of circular economy (Chen et al., 2017; Sudusinghe & Seuring, 2022).

Despite the extensive body of literature on the topic, there are still many research opportunities in the area of collaboration and coordination mechanisms including contracts, long-term partnerships, knowledge management and value alignment with suppliers, customers, and other stakeholders (Farooque et al., 2019). In the literature, this type of strategic relationship often falls within the definition of vertical quasi-integration or supply-chain integration (Flynn et al., 2010). In order to fill this gap, it is crucial to better understand supply-chain integration strategies, which have often been neglected in the literature, and whether they can be helpful to reach the goal of developing more sustainable supply-chains. The present dissertation aims at investigating the nuances of vertical quasiintegration strategy, or supply-chain integration, illustrating how it could be beneficial in enhancing the sustainability of the supply-chain, with a specific focus on environmental implications. In order to contribute to the extension of supplychain integration theory in relation to the sustainability topic, a case study approach has been deployed so that to offer insight into a real-world process that quantitative data could not have easily revealed (Eisenhardt & Graebner, 2007). The dissertation is structured as follows: in Chapter 1 a literature review has been conducted to give evidence of the current state of knowledge on stakeholder and institutional theory, sustainable supply-chain management, vertical quasiintegration, supply-chain integration, collaborative practices; and, ultimately, to formulate the research question, which will be the basis for the next step of the study.

Within Chapter 2, the research methodology is presented, along with the data collection strategy adopted to conduct the qualitative research, the interviews and archival data analysis. Chapter 3 provides a detailed introduction to the case study conducted at Procter & Gamble, by outlining the company's sustainability strategy. Chapter 4 outlines the results and their discussion, providing an answer to the research question by taking into account the results retrieved. The findings contributes towards the extension of the existing literature on supply-chain integration and sustainabilty, while offering actionable insights that can help other companies, operating in the same or different industries, which are facing similar challenges and objectives to those analyzed throughout the case study. Concluding remarks, as well as future research directions, are given in Chapter 5.

CHAPTER 1: Literature Review

1.1 Theoretical background

In this chapter, the theoretical background supporting the present research is presented. More specifically, the framework for this study is based on both stakeholder and institutional theory, which will be used as theoretical lenses for the following analysis.

The rationale behind the use of these theories is directly tied to the scope of the research, that is to explore the role of collaborative strategies in shaping successful sustainable outcomes throughout the supply-chain.

Indeed, such theories allow to understand how institutional pressures influence the adoption and implementation of sustainability practices across supply chains, and how the collaboration between different stakeholders may help achieving mutually beneficial outcomes in the long term (Menke, Hüsemann, and Siems 2021).

Moreover, the following sections provide an overview of the existing literature on sustainable supply-chain management and vertical integration strategy.

1.2 Stakeholder Theory

Stakeholder theory states that businesses must account for the interests of all parties affected by their operations, not just shareholders, but also customers, suppliers, employees, regulators, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), communities, and others (Li et al. 2025).

Thus, every actor that possesses a legitimate claim or stake in an organization can be considered as a stakeholder (Siems, Seuring, and Schilling 2023).

Originally advanced by Freeman (1984) and later expanded by other researchers, this perspective emphasizes that a firm's success and legitimacy depend on how well it manages relationships with all these stakeholders (Li et al. 2025).

Stakeholder theory provides a useful lens for understanding how power dynamics and relationship management shape decision-making across supply chain, thereby influencing its overall performance and resilience.

As firms increasingly rely on external partners for value creation, their ability to coordinate, negotiate, and align with a diverse set of stakeholders, has become essential to achieving operational and strategic objectives (Tapaninaho and Kujala 2019).

Recent empirical research supports this perspective, demonstrating that stakeholder engagement enhances supply chain collaboration, risk mitigation, and responsiveness, particularly in complex or globalized contexts (Foerstl et al. 2021).

Thus, stakeholder theory provides a conceptual foundation for viewing the supply chain as a network of interdependent stakeholders. Acknowledging each party's resources and claims leads to more coordinated governance and collaboration, and thus superior performance outcomes (Li et al. 2025).

When it comes to sustainability, the theory may provide a foundation for understanding why companies adopt environmentally and socially responsible practices. Indeed, as said before, firms are pressured to meet rising expectations from diverse stakeholder groups who demand better environmental stewardship and social accountability.

In other words, sustainable supply chain management (SSCM) can be seen as a strategic response to stakeholder demands for ethical, transparent, and eco-friendly supply chain practices.

Recent literature demonstrates that stakeholder pressures are a critical driver for implementing SSCM initiatives.

Indeed, both internal and external stakeholders such as governmental bodies and NGOs frequently act as key drivers, pushing firms to incorporate sustainability

criteria into procurement, manufacturing, and logistics decisions (Meixell and Luoma 2015).

Moreover, research indicates that pressure from powerful stakeholders, such as major suppliers, customers or government regulators, correlates with greater adoption of green supply chain practices and corporate social responsibility programs across industries (Hebaz, Oulfarsi, and Sahib Eddine 2024).

At the same time, stakeholders' related drivers are linked with competitive advantage. Indeed, firms that nurture interconnected relationship with their stakeholders, can obtain significant advantage in terms of both business and sustainability advantage (Qazi, Appolloni, and Shaikh 2024).

This suggests that managing stakeholder relationships is not only about external pressure but can align with strategic business benefits in sustainable supply chains. Overall, stakeholder theory effectively explains why firms are motivated to integrate sustainability into supply chain management, that is to satisfy the demands and uphold the trust of those who have a stake in or influence on the supply chain's outcomes. It also explains that through proactive engagement with different actors along the supply chain companies can build capabilities, increase sustainability awareness, and jointly develop innovative solutions (Siems, Seuring, and Schilling 2023).

1.3 Institutional Theory

Institutional theory provides another lens to analyse why external pressures and norms shape sustainable practices.

The theory states that companies operate within a broader institutional environment of regulations, industry standards, cultural norms, and peer influences that can strongly determine their behaviour (Scott 2014).

To secure legitimacy and survival, firms often conform to these institutional pressures, which are usually categorized as coercive, normative, and mimetic (DiMaggio and Powell 2000).

Coercive pressures stem from formal mandates or rules, such as government laws, environmental regulations, and penalties that push firms to adopt certain sustainable practices (Saeed et al. 2018).

Normative pressures arise from values, expectations, and norms diffused by professional bodies, industry associations, or society at large.

Finally, mimetic pressures occur under uncertainty when firms imitate the behaviour of peers or competitors, especially those perceived as successful or legitimate, such as copying a leading company's sustainability strategy to stay competitive or credible (Saeed et al. 2018).

Research has shown that stronger coercive regulations, such as stricter environmental laws or mandatory emissions reporting, often correlate with higher adoption of green supply chain practices by companies operating in those jurisdictions (Zhu, Sarkis, and Lai 2013).

As an example, the before mentioned European Union's evolving regulatory framework, which is moving from voluntary transparency to mandatory action on supply chain due diligence and decarbonization, exerts coercive pressure that has prompted firms to integrate sustainability into logistics and sourcing decisions.

Furthermore, industries often develop sustainability norms and firms feel compelled to comply in order to be viewed as reputable by customers and partners.

Indeed, businesses usually act quickly to maintain their legitimacy when sustainable practices are accepted as standard operating procedures, or as licenses to operate, (Hebaz, Oulfarsi, and Sahib Eddine 2024).

The combined effect of these institutional forces is that sustainability becomes increasingly embedded in the routines and strategies of supply chain management, not merely as an optional innovation, but as an accepted and expected way of doing business, (Saeed et al. 2018).

In this sense, a company's sustainability performance is often a reflection of the institutional context it operates in, shaped by laws, norms, and the broader cultural environment that define acceptable business conduct.

Accordingly, institutional theory richly explains why organizations adopt sustainable practices, often to attain legitimacy or avoid sanctions.

However, researchers argue that while institutional theory is excellent for explaining external drivers of SSCM, it provides little guidance on how to implement sustainable practices effectively inside the firm, (Saeed et al. 2018). Thus, from a theorical standpoint, the intersection between stakeholder theory and institutional theory may serve as an integrated perspective to understand not just the institutional "why", that is the external reasons driving sustainability, but also the managerial "how", the relationships and processes between stakeholders needed to truly achieve sustainable supply chain outcomes, (Shahzad et al. 2022).

1.4 Sustainable supply-chain management

As said before, the discussion on sustainability has gained growing attention over the past decades, emerging as an important strategic outlook (Negri et al., 2021). For instance, the concept of 'net zero emissions', defined as the goal to reach overall carbon neutrality which leads to a zero-carbon footprint, has transitioned from being a subject of scientific discussion to serving as a guiding principle for international, national, subnational, and corporate initiatives to fight climate change (Matemilola, 2020; Oshiro et al., 2018).

An agreement among 196 nations, formalized in Paris in 2016, established a target to limit the global average temperature rise to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels, with an additional aim of restricting the increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels. Achieving the objectives of the Paris Agreement necessitates attaining net-zero CO2 emissions worldwide by 2050, which will require the implementation of robust policies and collective effort to address climate change (Matemilola, 2020).

Environmental concerns are becoming increasingly prevalent in the design of firms' strategy, since world-wide leaders are asked to improve the sustainability performance of their supply-chains.

However, the sustainability discussion does not only encompass environmental aspects but takes into consideration also social and economic aspects.

The convergence of these three dimensions into one main conception is commonly known as "triple-bottom-line" (TBL). The environmental dimension of sustainability is related to the impact on natural environment, which includes land, water, plants, and animals; the social aspect of sustainability focuses on human capital, emphasizing the importance of adopting and implementing practices that are equitable and beneficial for employees, the community, and the region where the company operates; the economic dimension of sustainability pertains to the financial benefits gained by stakeholders across the supply chain, including the

community, the region, and the countries where operations take place (Cristini et al., 2021).

Including all these elements in supply-chains seem to have become indispensable to guarantee a fast and reliable supply of raw materials and finished products to customers, which is *tout court* the main role and objective of supply-chain management.

Thus, the need to explore the intersection between sustainability and supply-chain management paved the way for the development of sustainable supply-chain management (SSCM).

When it comes to the definition of SSCM there exists a plurality of different interpretations (Khan et al., 2021).

Some authors defined SSCM has an extension to the SCM literature by adding social and environmental aspects into the discussion, while others highlight how SSCM deals with the management of information, capital flows, and materials, as well as cooperation between different firms along the supply-chain (Seuring and Müller 2008; Turker and Altuntas 2014).

Despite the heterogeneity of views in the literature, most researchers agree that SSCM should be considered a requirement rather than a choice, since a company's competitive advantage is now based also on how well it manages sustainability issues rather than just its internal corporate practices and actions.

Before diving into the various elements that compose SSCM, it's important to investigate more detailly what the motives and the barriers are for implementing such practices. SSCM is usually motivated by a confluence of external forces and internal values (Sajjad, Eweje, and Tappin 2015).

Adopting SSCM methods internally is frequently based on the ethical beliefs and values of top leadership. As the "right thing to do" for their company, society, and the environment, senior managers usually see sustainability as a moral duty. Nonetheless, SSCM is accepted as a strategic instrument for risk management and long-term success in addition to ethical considerations. Companies view sustainability as a means of reducing operational disruptions, reputational hazards,

and the dangers of non-compliance or unethical supply chain activities (Cheung et al., 2009).

For instance, a company's reputation is protected, and its brand is differentiated in competitive marketplaces by avoiding associations with scandals like labour abuses or environmental violations.

Additionally, to improve resilience and advance a more sustainable future, a longterm orientation pushes businesses to work with supply chain partners and integrate sustainability into their core operations.

Increased demands from stakeholders, communities, and consumers have an external impact on organizations. Consumers today expect businesses to take social and environmental responsibility seriously, and they are demanding more transparency and sustainable practices. By making companies answerable for the wider effects of their supply chain operations, communities also play a vital role. Public campaigns, media attention, and non-governmental organizations (NGOs) have increased this pressure, making sustainability a non-negotiable factor for many companies (Sharfman, Shaft, and Anex 2009).

Furthermore, although they vary in their efficacy, government incentives and regulatory frameworks encourage businesses to implement SSCM. NGOs have taken direct action in several industries, as seen by campaigns that draw attention to the harm done to the environment and violations of human rights associated with unsustainable practices.

These external pressures force companies to implement SSCM procedures but also to communicate their efforts to maintain customer loyalty and public trust (Sajjad, Eweje, and Tappin 2015).

However, implementing SSCM is not without its obstacles. The lack of knowledge and comprehension of sustainability principles in enterprises is one of the major internal obstacles. Many managers and staff may oppose sustainability initiatives because they believe they are unnecessary or expensive. Efforts to shift to SSCM may be hampered by ingrained behaviours and attitudes in organizations,

especially when employees see sustainability as a secondary concern rather than a crucial component of corporate strategy (Wittstruck & Teuteberg, 2012).

These difficulties are worsened by unfavourable opinions as well as a lack of administrative expertise and resources for putting sustainable practices into action. Even when long-term advantages are expected, firms may find it difficult to justify the initial expenses for creating sustainable supply chain systems due to financial restrictions.

The external obstacles to SSCM implementation are just as intricate. Organizations find it challenging to integrate their whole supply chain with sustainability goals because supplier capabilities frequently fall short of what is needed to offer sustainable goods and services. Furthermore, firms and customers may be deterred by the higher costs of sustainable products, particularly in countries where there is still little demand for green alternatives. These problems are made worse by lax government rules and a lack of adequate policy support. Businesses find it more difficult to defend or expedite their SSCM initiatives when governments do not prioritize sustainability or provide sufficient incentives. Furthermore, it is difficult to establish uniform sustainable practices due to geographical differences, cultural differences among supply chain participants, and fragmented supply chains. Despite these challenges, SSCM offers organizations a path to reduce risks, enhance brand reputation, and meet the growing demand for responsible business practices. Overcoming these barriers requires collaboration between businesses, governments, and other stakeholders. Companies must address internal resistance through awareness programs, training, and leadership-driven initiatives, while also leveraging partnerships with suppliers to build capacity and drive collective sustainability goals. Policymakers, on the other hand, can play a vital role by providing clear regulations, financial incentives, and public awareness campaigns to support SSCM efforts (Sajjad, Eweje, and Tappin 2015).

By addressing these motivators and barriers, businesses can successfully transition toward a more sustainable supply chain, ultimately fostering long-term resilience and value creation.

Indeed, in the last few years a multitude of sustainable initiatives and practices have been successfully implemented in supply-chains.

In the next sections, evidence is given regarding the major SSCM components for each main function of the supply-chain, namely procurement, manufacturing and logistics, with an emphasis on environmental issues.

1.4.1 Green procurement

Procurement is a key concept in supply-chain management, defined as a multipart process, which includes vendor certification and selection, requisition preparation and approval, order placement, goods receipt, reconciliation and payment of the invoice, and order archiving (Jr, 2005).

Green procurement, also referred to as green purchasing, is a sustainable approach that integrates environmental considerations into procurement decisions. The primary goal of green procurement is to minimize waste, reduce environmental impact, and enhance operational efficiency while maintaining cost-effectiveness and quality standard.

It extends beyond conventional procurement, which traditionally prioritizes quality, cost, and delivery, by incorporating environmental concerns such as resource sustainability, pollution reduction, and energy efficiency, (Rejeb et al. 2023).

Since green purchasing is concerned with acquiring sustainable inputs, accurate and effective supplier-management practices should be implemented to reach the goal of minimizing environmental impact.

For example, the implementation of sustainability scorecards is fundamental to evaluate and select the right suppliers.

Therefore, auditing suppliers via environmental performance metrics is key to ensure that suppliers efforts are aligned with the sustainability vision of a company. This alignment is crucial and, if not managed effectively, it may cause issues in supplier management, while being a barrier for implementing

sustainability initiatives. Sometimes suppliers are not fully capable to implement sustainable initiatives due to a lack of skills, infrastructural and technological support (van Keulen & Kirchherr, 2021).

Hence, it becomes clear that companies that are looking for more sustainable and environmental-friendly sourcing strategies should involve suppliers at an early stage of the purchasing plan. This requires both external coordination with suppliers but also internal coordination between the different functions of the supply-chain. More precisely, suppliers cannot provide recycle materials if not informed promptly. In the same way, it will be difficult for the procurement team to arrange sustainable materials if concerned departments, i.e. design and manufacturing, are not involved at the stage of need identification. The purchasing division should work closely together with the designers and manufactures to identify all the requirements and green resources needed for the final product.

Finally, green procurement is also related to the cost of materials, which is one of the most important factors in purchasing criteria. Tax exemptions and incentives could play a vital role in enhancing the propensity to purchase refurbished and recycle goods, thereby providing the procurement teams with a solution that could be both cost-efficient and environmental effective (Qazi & Appolloni, 2022).

1.4.2 Green design and manufacturing

Design and manufacturing can be defined as the input-output process through which resources are transformed into products available to the market. However, this system that converts elements into valuable products, also generates various types of waste and emissions as byproducts (Chu and Pan 2024).

Since the environmental impacts of manufacturing can be very large, green design and manufacturing pursue the goal of improving energy efficiency, enhancing material efficiency and circularity (Thiede, Damgrave, and Lutters 2022).

There are multiple strategies that can be explored to limit environmental damages. One is sustainable or eco-design which deals with the implementation of environmentally friendly alternatives from the early stage of the product life cycle. This system requires companies to design their products in a way that reduces and

minimizes the environmental impact by making use of recycled materials, renewable energy and so on.

It comes with no surprise that innovation could play a vital role in facilitating this process. In the last few years, the advent of new disruptive technologies, such as AI and robotics has revolutionized many industry practices and operations, thereby offering multiple sources for greening design and manufacturing.

For example, some studies proposed a data-driven co-creation platform for designing environmentally friendly products (Zheng et al. 2019).

The user experience of the products can be visualized throughout the use of augmented reality, providing valuable feedback to manufacturers for design improvements through a cloud-based platform.

This experiment also highlights how the emergence of new customer preferences for sustainability can stimulate innovation of new products and vice versa (Chu & Pan, 2024).

Another great application of technology and green manufacturing can be found in a recent study focused on energy optimization of industrial equipment (Purmaissur et al. 2018).

The integration of virtual reality technologies with Internet of Things to monitor and visualize real-time energy consumption has been an effective approach on the shop floor, enabling production managers to identify potential power issues, save energy, and reduce operating costs (Chu and Pan 2024).

1.4.3 Green logistics

Logistics can be defined as the business processes that plan, control, and implement the flow of goods and related information between points of origin and points of consumption to meet customer demand.

As goods flow from origins to destinations through the logistics network, they are moved in planes, trucks, and ships, powered by fossil fuels, such as diesel or petrol. Energy used during storage and handling of goods also impacts the atmosphere, albeit not always directly but indirectly through non-renewable energy use.

The environmental impact of logistics is usually related to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions that affect global climate, pollution of air quality and packaging waste (Bouchery et al. 2024).

In 2018, transport activities resulted in about 29% of total EU CO2 emissions (Oliveri et al. 2023). Other studies confirm that the transportation sector is one of the highest contributors to GHG emissions, with the main contributor being road freight (Bouchery et al. 2024; Hofer, Jäger, and Füllsack 2018).

The growing attention towards the environment and the continuous growth of goods movements have driven the logistics industry to rethink its impacts and emissions, leading to the emergence of green logistics (Oliveri et al. 2023).

Green logistics, or eco-logistics, is the set of actions aimed at minimizing the environmental consequences of logistics activities (Dzwigol, Trushkina, and Kwilinski 2021).

For example, transportation providers are expected to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from their vehicles, warehouse managers to focus on waste and energy reduction strategies, and products to be redesigned to increase recyclability and reuse, which require different inventory planning needs (Bouchery et al. 2024). These efforts may take many different forms, ranging from technological innovation such as replacing vehicle fleets from diesel to hybrid.

Other strategies involve better ways to plan and execute the movement of goods, such as increasing the utilization of trucks while maintaining inventory levels under control or collaborative logistics models, in which multiple companies share transport resources, as it has been described in more detail in Chapter 4.

Regardless of the specificities of each initiative there are five main levers that, when combined, drive the environmental impact of logistics, namely distance, transportation mode, equipment type, load quantity, and operation quality (Bouchery et al. 2024).

By strategically locating warehouses, distribution centres, and production facilities, firms can reduce the total distance travelled by goods, thereby lowering fuel consumption and carbon emissions. This approach also contributes to cost savings and improved efficiency, as shorter distances lead to lower transportation expenses and faster delivery times.

Another critical aspect is modal shift, which refers to the transition from more carbon-intensive transportation modes, such as road freight, to more sustainable alternatives, including rail, maritime, or even multimodal transport. Rail transport, for instance, is significantly more fuel-efficient than road transport over long distances, while waterborne shipping, despite being slower, has a lower environmental footprint per ton-kilometre (Björk, Vierth, and Cullinane 2023). Encouraging such shifts requires investments in infrastructure and coordinated efforts between logistics providers and policymakers (Bouchery et al. 2024).

Furthermore, vehicle efficiency and technological advancements are fundamental in reducing the carbon footprint of logistics operations. This includes the adoption of fuel-efficient trucks, electric or hybrid vehicles, and alternative fuel sources such as biofuels or hydrogen. Moreover, improved aerodynamics, lighter vehicle materials, and smart logistics technologies can enhance fuel efficiency and lower emissions (Leach et al. 2020).

In addition to vehicle efficiency, load optimization plays a vital role in sustainable logistics. The underutilization of cargo space leads to unnecessary additional trips, increasing both costs and emissions. Companies are encouraged to use advanced logistics planning tools, such as load consolidation and route optimization software, to ensure that vehicles operate at maximum capacity.

Finally, the green logistics literature underscores the significance of supply-chain redesign, routing and scheduling improvements. Poorly planned routes and delivery schedules contribute to congestion, fuel waste, and excessive emissions. By leveraging real-time data, artificial intelligence, and predictive analytics, firms can develop more efficient routing plans that minimize travel distances and avoid peak traffic periods (Dikshit et al. 2023). Additionally, nighttime deliveries, urban consolidation centres, and last-mile delivery innovations, such as the use of cargo bikes or electric delivery vans, offer viable solutions to reduce emissions in urban logistics (Gonzalez-Calderon et al. 2022).

1.5 Vertical quasi-integration strategy

The previous sections briefly mention some strategies that could be effective in reducing the environmental impact of some operations along the supply chain. These strategies, whether they are made at the strategic, tactical, or operational level, strictly depend on the supply-chain configuration of a certain company.

Nowadays, supply-chain configurations are increasingly disintermediated, adopting partial or quasi-integration rather than pursuing more traditional, full vertical integration (Mason, Doyle, and Wong, 2006).

For example, the so-called global network-firm unifies a set of legally independent firms positioned along a single supply chain to design and manufacture complex and specific products (Chassagnon, 2014).

The recent trends of quasi-integration and the need for a holistic view of supply chain configuration have led researchers to rethink the boundaries of the make-or-buy paradigm, which characterizes the vertically integrated firm.

In the economics literature, transactions cost theory has been developed with the key objective of identifying suitable supply chain configurations by understanding their boundaries within markets.

According to Williamson (1980), firms choose vertical integration when the cost of transacting in the open market (i.e. contracting suppliers or distributors) exceeds the cost of internalizing those activities within the firm.

Thus, vertical integration refers to a firm's decision to expand its control though ownership over multiple stages of the supply chain to minimize transaction costs. However, when it comes to such decision, companies can opt for several intermediate types of vertical relationship which may combine the benefits of both market transactions and internalization.

These hybrid forms of vertical integration, or quasi-integration, depend on a company's reactive resources and capability strengths.

Different forms of vertical quasi-integration can be classified according to two major criteria: formalization and degree of commitment.

Supplier and customer partnerships involves managed relationships based on trust and goal congruence. By converting inter-firm relationships into partnerships, companies can shape the actions of their trading partners without bearing the costs and asset risks linked to ownership (Mason, Doyle, and Wong 2006).

Although they require a high degree of commitment, the level of formalization of these agreements is usually low.

On the other hand, franchising and joint ventures are much more formalized and demand a significant level of collaboration.

Franchising is a method of selling products, services, and/or technology based on a formal agreement between two independently owned companies. The franchisor grants the franchisee the right and imposes the obligation to operate the company in line with the franchisor's philosophy and business strategy (Grzelak and Matejun 2013).

Equity joint ventures are arrangements in which two or more firms pool resources to establish a separate legal entity which is jointly owned by the sponsoring firms. Activity is organized between firms but is hierarchically controlled within the joint venture itself (Beamish and Banks 1987).

The great number of alternative strategies for implementing quasi-integration

is indicative of the complexity of the problems firms face in vertical relationships. Vertical integration provides a firm with the highest level of control. By becoming vertically integrated, a company can oversee and regulate all aspects of its relationships with suppliers or buyers. Pure market exchange and vertical integration serve as the traditional "make or buy" choices, representing opposite ends of the spectrum-ranging from independent transactions to full internalization, and from flexibility to control.

Hybrid configurations, or quasi-integration, reflect the necessity, in a world of uncertainty, to make trade-offs between flexibility and control (McWilliams and Gray 1970).

1.6 Supply-chain integration

The discussion on vertical integration has been evolving ever since, with innumerate contributions and different perspectives among the literature.

In the last few years, the notion of a more applied and functionally integrated perspective of integration has emerged, often called supply chain integration, which suggests both an operational and cross-functional focus (Stonebraker and Liao 2004).

In a sense, supply-chain integration could be considered as an application and extension of vertical integration theory, emphasizing the role of logistics and communication efficiencies.

The traditional configuration of the supply-chain usually involves five stages of activity: creation of raw materials, manufacture of parts and components, assembly of finished goods, distribution of goods and services, and customer service.

These stages may involve several serial production and distribution activities, or steps, and each activity will likely involve internal functions of purchasing, operations, and logistics (Stonebraker and Liao 2004).

Each stage may involve multiple activities or processes, or they may be entirely separate. Moreover, supply chain flows operate in both directions: while products,

often supplemented with a variable service component, move forward, information flows both backward (customer demand requirements, including design and volume) and forward (product promotional details and availability).

Therefore, it is evident that the concept of the supply chain highlights nonownership and the relatively informal nature of connections at all stages, regardless of the size of the firms involved.

Accordingly, supply chain integration might be defined as the degree to which a manufacturer strategically collaborates with its supply chain partners and collaboratively manages intra and inter-organization processes (Flynn, Huo, and Zhao 2010).

The objective here is to ensure efficient and effective flows of products, services, information, money, and decisions, delivering maximum customer value at minimal cost and high speed.

This definition of supply chain integration as a quasi-integration strategy, in the form of strategic partnerships between different actors among the supply-chain, underscores the significance of collaboration and mutual trust, contract duration, and efficient conflict resolution, as well as the sharing of information, rewards, and risks.

The partnership between P&G, the supplier, and Walmart, its customer, is a great example of supply-chain integration. By implementing collaborative planning, forecasting, and replenishment (CPFR), Wal-Mart and P&G have significantly reduced operating costs and inventory levels. This has led to notable improvements, including an increase in Wal-Mart's inventory fill rate from 87% to 98% and a 48% boost in P&G's sales revenue (Min 2015).

Indeed, through collaborative partnerships firms within supply chains can access more resources, including expertise and information, from their partners to enhance their performance and share risks. By engaging in such agreements, companies can lower operational costs, maximize usable capacity, expand market reach, and strengthen their operational capabilities (Xu et al. 2023).

Furthermore, supply chain integration can be consolidated into three key components: customer integration, supplier integration, and internal integration.

Customer and supplier integration together form external integration, which reflects the extent to which a manufacturer collaborates with external partners to align inter-organizational strategies, practices, and processes into cohesive, synchronized operations.

Customer integration centers on developing core competencies through coordination with key customers, while supplier integration focuses on core competencies related to collaboration with essential suppliers.

In contrast, internal integration refers to activities within the manufacturer itself, representing the extent to which it structures its internal strategies, practices, and processes into unified, synchronized operations to effectively meet customer demands (Flynn, Huo, and Zhao 2010).

1.7 Research question

Building upon the literature review, it is evident that growing environmental concerns, regulatory challenges, and the complexity of global supply networks have prompted businesses to look for creative ways to achieve sustainability. Traditional approaches to supply-chain management, such as full vertical integration or market-based transactions, present both opportunities and challenges. Full integration lowers operational flexibility and frequently necessitates a large capital investment, even though it provides more control over operations. On the other hand, market-based transactions can lead to fragmented sustainability efforts throughout the supply chain and misaligned incentives, even when they allow for adaptability.

As a strategic alternative to these constraints, businesses are increasingly engaging in vertical quasi-integration, which blends aspects of hierarchical control with market transactions. Long-term partnerships, joint ventures, strategic alliances,

and supplier-customer collaborations are examples of quasi-integration strategies that let businesses improve coordination, share resources related to sustainability, and align incentives throughout the supply chain without the limits of full vertical integration.

By investigating the role of vertical quasi-integration in sustainable supply-chain management, the present qualitative research provides empirical evidence through a case study approach, ultimately offering some potential to help organizations achieve breakthroughs in sustainability performance.

Indeed, the dissertation seeks to address the following research question,

RQ: How does vertical quasi-integration contribute to the development of a more sustainable supply chain?

While providing an answer to such research question, the goal of this research is to narrow the gap between theory and practice, offering useful insights to professionals in academia and industry. The results will add to the body of knowledge on supply-chain sustainability while providing useful advice for businesses looking to improve sustainability through partial integration and strategic cooperation. Lastly, this study aims to demonstrate how quasi-integration, and its different modes, can be a versatile and scalable strategy for managing a sustainable supply chain, encouraging creativity and adaptability at a time of growing economic and environmental instability.

CHAPTER 2: Research Methodology

2.1 Research design

Considering the main research objective of assessing the impact of vertical quasiintegration strategy on sustainability performance of the supply-chain, a qualitative method through a case study approach was employed and deemed appropriate as it allows to identify multiple insights and nuances from a real-world business case that could not be apprehended through a simple quantitative analysis. A case study serves as a research method designed to create a detailed, multidimensional comprehension of a specific topic within its actual setting (Crowe et al. 2011).

Since the case study approach may offer additional insights into what gaps exist in a particular field or why one implementation strategy might be chosen over another, it in turn could help develop or refine the existing theory of supply-chain integration and sustainability.

Moreover, researchers have highlighted how case studies can fit as one of the most suitable research designs when it comes to analysing topics of corporate strategy (Lavarda and Bellucci 2022).

Indeed, case studies allow to examine an in-depth phenomenon and to go inside the organization where things are being performed by people to understand how these phenomena occur.

According to Whittington (2006), strategy can be viewed as something that people do instead of something the firm has. Thus, more researchers are required to have a closer look at organizations, observing the daily routines and activities, claiming for qualitative analysis more than large statistical databases.

Considering the previously mentioned benefits of using a case study approach to investigate strategy and its implications, the present research was sought to be done via a single-case study, with the aim of richly describing a real-world example of a vertical quasi-integration strategy and assessing its potential to enhance supply-

chain sustainability. The case was selected due to its potential to provide potentially revelatory insights, and to be an exceptional chance for unique research access. Indeed, being part of P&G as an intern in the Product Supply function during the thesis writing, allowed the author to immerse himself in the core business processes under investigation, both through direct accounts from managers and first-hand observation on the field.

2.2 Data Collection

Case study research allows to use any method of data collection which is in line with the purpose of the investigation (Lavarda and Bellucci 2022).

Thus, this research employs a combination of primary and secondary data sources to ensure methodological triangulation, which enhances the robustness and credibility of the findings. (Priya 2021).

The primary data was obtained through seven semi-structured, in-depth interviews with key managers and executives at Procter & Gamble (P&G), who were directly involved in strategic initiatives and could have provided valuable insights related to the company's approach to sustainability.

The semi-structured nature of the interviews allowed for flexibility in exploring new themes that emerged during the discussions while maintaining a structured approach to cover key areas of interest (Eisenhardt and Graebner 2007). Indeed, interviewees were encouraged to not only answer the questions they were being asked but also to freely express their opinions and ideas about relevant issues.

Interviews were conducted in English and Italian, lasted between 30 to 60 minutes and were recorded and transcribed for subsequent thematic analysis.

Additionally, secondary data sources were employed to complement and validate the primary data. These sources included corporate sustainability reports, press releases, and publicly available documents on P&G initiatives.

To further ensure credibility, publicly available media articles and expert analyses on green logistics and collaborative transportation models were reviewed. This secondary data helped to cross-verify the statements provided by interviewees, ensuring a holistic understanding of the case study.

Table 1. *Interviews' sample*

Interviews' Sample					
Interview	Role	Date	Type of interview	Duration	
1	Spain's Transportation Director	20nd of March 2025	Video Call - Microsoft Teams	50 min	
2	EU Sustainability Manager	27th of March 2025	Video Call - Microsoft Teams	35 min	
3	Europe Customer Supply-Chain Manager	8th of April 2025	Video Call - Microsoft Teams	40min	
4	Italy's Customer Supply-Chain Manager	18th of April 2025	Video Call - Microsoft Teams	55 min	
5	Italy's Customer Supply-Chain Manager	22nd of April 2025	Video Call - Microsoft Teams	45 min	
6	Italy's Transportation & Sustainability Manager	30th of April 2025	Video Call - Microsoft Teams	35 min	
7	Former Vice-President Supply-Chain Europe	8th of May 2025	Video Call - Google Meet	45 min	

Table 2. *Interviews questions sample*

Sample of questions asked during the interviews

What it is P&G overall strategy when it comes to sustainability?

What is P&G's most ambitious or challenging sustainability targets and what is the timeline for achieving them?

What is the main challenges P&G has faced in implementing its sustainability strategy?

What do you think are the key success factors that ensure to reach long-term sustainability goals?

What are the main drivers that pushes P&G to partner with a specific retailer?

How are specific sustainability goals (e.g., emissions reductions, waste reduction) defined and agreed upon before a partnership is formalized?

How are agreements structured from a corporate strategy perspective?

How are responsibilities and risks distributed among P&G and retailers?

What are the main benefits derived from these partnerships, in terms of both sustainability and business impact?

What specific data or metrics are used to quantify the benefits of such initiatives?

What could be the main risks when engaging in such partnerships?

What do you think are the main challenges and obstacles that prevent companies from engaging in such collaborative agreements?

What role does trust play in these partnerships, and how can companies build and maintain trust with their partners?

2.3. Reliability and Validity

Ensuring the reliability and validity of research findings is a critical aspect of any empirical study, particularly in qualitative research where data interpretation plays a significant role in shaping conclusions. Reliability refers to the consistency and replicability of research findings, meaning that if the study were to be repeated using the same methodology, similar results should be obtained (Gibbert and Ruigrok 2010). Validity, on the other hand, concerns the accuracy of the research in capturing what it is intended to measure, ensuring that the study truly reflects the phenomenon being investigated. In the present research, multiple strategies have been employed to enhance both reliability and validity, particularly given the qualitative and case study-based nature of the research design.

To ensure reliability, a standardized protocol was followed for data collection, interview procedures, and data analysis. All interviews were conducted using a semi-structured format with open-ended questions.

In terms of validity, both internal and external validity were considered throughout the research process. Internal validity was strengthened through pattern matching and explanation building, two well-established techniques in case study research that allow to establish causal relationships between variables (Priya 2021). By comparing the case study findings with theoretical predictions from the literature, the study enhances its credibility and ensures that the observed outcomes align with broader theoretical constructs.

External validity, which refers to the generalizability of the findings beyond the specific case under investigation, was addressed through theoretical generalization rather than statistical generalization (Eisenhardt and Graebner 2007).

Although case studies typically have limited external validity in terms of broad statistical representativeness, this research contributes to theory-building by providing insights that can be applied to other companies and industries facing similar sustainability challenges.

Furthermore, respondent validation, or member checking, was conducted by sharing interview transcripts and preliminary findings with key participants to confirm the accuracy of the recorded data and interpretations (Birt et al. 2016). This process ensured that the perspectives of the interviewees were accurately represented, thereby reinforcing construct validity.

All things considered, the study guarantees the validity and relevance of its conclusions by using a thorough research design that includes the validation techniques above mentioned. Although there is always some subjectivity in qualitative research, the methodological precautions taken in the research increase the reliability of its findings and add to the body of knowledge regarding sustainable supply-chain, stakeholder and institutional theory.

CHAPTER 3: Case study presentation

In the following paragraph, with the aim of creating context for the case study being examined, describing the business environment in which the company operates on a daily basis, an initial profile of the company will be outlined, and its sustainability strategy will be traced through the acquisition of publicly available data and primary data by direct accounts of managers within the company.

Accordingly, this chapter reports a brief introduction of P&G which encompasses the company's present framework for sustainability and concerns for the future.

3.1 P&G Sustainability Strategy

Procter & Gamble (P&G), founded in 1837, is a multinational consumer goods corporation headquartered in Cincinnati, Ohio. With a portfolio of iconic brands spanning beauty, grooming, health care, fabric care, and home care, P&G operates in over 180 countries, serving approximately five billion consumers worldwide. As one of the largest fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) companies globally, P&G's extensive supply chain encompasses raw material sourcing, manufacturing, distribution, and retail partnerships, making sustainability integration both a strategic imperative and an operational challenge.

P&G's sustainability strategy is rooted in the triple-bottom-line (TBL) framework, which emphasizes the interdependence of environmental stewardship, social responsibility, and economic performance (Cristini, Zerbini, and Salvietti 2021). The company's approach reflects a broader industry shift toward sustainable supply chain management (SSCM), where environmental and social metrics are no longer peripheral but central to long-term competitiveness (Khan et al. 2021). At the core of P&G's strategy is a commitment to achieving net-zero greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions across its value chain by 2040, with interim targets including a 50% reduction in operational emissions by 2030 and a transition to 100%

renewable electricity in manufacturing facilities within the same timeframe (P&G Sustainability Report, 2023). These goals align with the Paris Agreement's 1.5°C pathway, underscoring the company's recognition of climate change as a material risk to business continuity (Matemilola 2020).

To operationalize these targets, P&G has adopted a multi-pronged approach that leverages technological innovation, circular economy principles, and collaborative partnerships.

In product design, P&G has prioritized circularity through initiatives such as the incorporation of post-consumer recycled (PCR) plastics into packaging and the development of concentrated formulations that reduce material and water use. For instance, Tide Eco-Box, a lightweight detergent format, has achieved a 60% reduction in packaging weight and a 30% decrease in water consumption during use (Chu and Pan 2024). These innovations are supported by lifecycle assessments (LCAs) to quantify environmental impacts and identify optimization opportunities. Procurement practices further illustrate P&G's quasi-integration strategy, where supplier relationships are governed by sustainability scorecards that evaluate environmental and social performance. Rather than pursuing full vertical ownership, P&G engages in long-term partnerships with suppliers to codevelop sustainable materials, such as bio-based surfactants, and shares risks through joint investments in renewable energy infrastructure. The same logic applies for green logistics, the "science" that enables the planning and control of the flow and storage of goods, has now gone beyond its traditional role. Today, it seeks to provide answers to the demand for environmental sustainability, playing a leading role in the future of the planet, and, according to Pietro D'Arpa (2025), former Vice President Supply Chain Europe at Procter & Gamble, this is possible only if all essential public and private stakeholders come on board, each ready to do their part.

This model mirrors the collaborative approach seen in P&G's logistics operations, where partnerships with retailers like Carrefour have enabled innovations such as the "mega trucks" initiative in Spain, consolidating shipments to reduce CO₂

emissions by 30% while maintaining cost efficiency (Bouchery et al. 2024). The execution of P&G's sustainability strategy relies on robust internal governance structures that ensure alignment across functions. As an example, a Chief Sustainability Officer (CSO), reporting directly to the CEO, oversees the integration of sustainability metrics into corporate performance evaluations, with key performance indicators (KPIs) linked to executive compensation.

Cross-functional teams, comprising R&D, procurement, and logistics personnel, collaborate on initiatives such as the "HolyGrail 2.0" project, which employs digital watermarking to improve packaging recyclability.

The first step is redesigning the supply chain and training those who will manage it, with mobility managers who can chart the course and workers capable of moving goods daily, prioritizing shipments and assigning the most suitable transport method, whether truck, train, ship, or plane, for each order. This internal integration enables P&G to translate strategic objectives into operational practices, fostering innovation at the intersection of sustainability and efficiency.

Despite its progress, P&G faces systemic challenges in scaling sustainability across its global supply chain. Supplier capability gaps, particularly among small-tier vendors, hinder the adoption of decarbonization technologies, while cost premiums associated with sustainable materials, such as PCR plastics, which remain 10-15% more expensive than other alternatives (Qazi and Appolloni 2022), pose economic trade-offs. Regulatory fragmentation further complicates efforts, as divergent recycling policies across markets necessitate localized adaptations to circular economy strategies.

To mitigate these barriers, P&G has embraced quasi-integration mechanisms that balance control with flexibility. Long-term supplier contracts, coupled with shared R&D investments, reduce transaction costs and align incentives, while participation in industry coalitions, such as the Alliance to End Plastic Waste, facilitates knowledge sharing and standardization.

P&G's sustainability strategy exemplifies the potential of vertical quasiintegration to reconcile the competing demands of environmental responsibility and operational efficiency. Thus, the company's experience offers a replicable model for firms seeking to embed sustainability into their supply chains while maintaining agility in a dynamic global market.

CHAPTER 4: Analysis and Discussion

As outlined in the previous chapters, this study aimed to gather and evaluate perspectives on sustainability concepts and supply-chain integration from professionals across different supply chain roles. The goal was to analyse how customer integration and its different modes could turn into a winning strategy for sustainability through practical application of corporate strategies. By synthesizing these role-specific insights, the research provides a deeper understanding of sustainable supply chain management and broader sustainability principles.

To accomplish this objective, the study employed a mixed-methods approach, including observations, interviews, and analysis of corporate documents.

The present chapter outlines the discussion of the results obtained though the analysis of the data retrieved from the interviews.

As explained in the previous chapter, the interviews were conducted with P&G managers and who were involved in sustainability projects that required direct customer engagement in the logistics sector.

All the managers interviewed provided valuable insights and fresh perspectives, as each had worked on different projects, with different customers, in different teams and markets.

Such projects span from transportation initiatives, aimed at reducing the empty miles or increasing the vehicle fill rate, to technology improvement plans designed ad-hoc for the customers to ensure a smoother order management process.

This diversity greatly enriched the findings and supported the goal of the analysis, which is to identify a common thread across these projects that could answer the research question:

"How does vertical quasi-integration contribute to the development of a more sustainable supply chain?".

However, before deep diving into the analysis addressing the research question, it is necessary to briefly outline the contextual framework underpinning these considerations.

As it has been said, the focus of this research is to understand how integration strategies and their different modes can enhance supply chain sustainability.

As briefly mentioned in previous chapters, within the scope of this study, the term *sustainability* primarily refers to the environmental aspects of the ESG (Environmental, Social, and Governance) paradigm. However, it is important to acknowledge the significant role played by social and governance factors in the objectives pursued by P&G and all companies committed to achieving ambitious sustainability goals.

Another important clarification involves defining the scope of supply chain integration as intended in this study.

Specifically, the analysis will focus particularly on explaining the role of this integration strategy within the logistics domain, thereby reducing the attention on other supply chain phases, such as procurement or production.

In this context, the research will specifically contribute to the narrow green logistics literature, as defined in Chapter 1.4.3, within the broader field of sustainable supply chain management.

4.1 General Findings

From the analysis of the projects carried out by P&G in the field of green logistics, several shared general traits emerge that shed light on the processes inside one of the world's largest multinationals in the FMCG sector and explain how vertical quasi-integration may contribute to the development of a more sustainable supply chain.

First, all projects conducted with clients to enhance supply-chain sustainability on the transportation and warehousing side point to an institutionalised decision heuristic, that is the Service-Cost-Sustainability (SCS) triangle. Striking a balance between these three areas is no easy task and demands considerable effort to pass the "hard gate" that marks the transition from concept to efficient and long-term strategies.

More specifically, when referring to service, we mean the need to provide customers with excellent service which is, unsurprisingly, one of the key pillars of P&G's corporate strategy, shortly captured by the motto "Superior Retail Execution". Providing service generally means ensuring that orders are delivered on time, meeting the agreed lead time, minimizing rejections, and guaranteeing the highest possible reliability in the flow of goods.

The other two pillars of the SCS paradigm cover all the aspects related to net supply-chain cost encompassing freight, detention charges, inventory buffers, and related efficiency drivers, and to environmental sustainability, measured in terms of absolute and intensity-based CO₂ emission reduction, etc.

Although they may seem like distinct goals, it's critical to emphasize that sustainability and cost are, in fact, two sides of the same coin.

Successful sustainability initiatives deliver a dual advantage: they drive environmental progress while cutting operational costs.

In practice, well-executed sustainability measures, such as optimizing transport routes or increasing the vehicle fill rate (VFR), not only lower environmental impact but also directly decrease expenses.

As highlighted in the interviews, finding an effective balance between these priorities is often challenging, yet it is precisely this equilibrium that enables both suppliers and retailers to achieve shared objectives and mutual benefits.

Empirical evidence shows that balancing these priorities inherently involves tradeoffs. Cost and sustainability's gains frequently come at the expense of service quality (i.e. higher lead time), a pain point for retailers.

Many times, green logistics embodies a structural paradox. As an example, customers want faster, cheaper deliveries, yet rail and alternative fuels often slow transit or add costs.

Vertical quasi-integration may help navigating the paradox by distributing ownership and control to whichever node can mitigate the downside.

As an example, rail lead-time risk can be buffered by retailers with strong DC automation, while fuel cost risk is absorbed by P&G when it secures higher volumes.

Accordingly, mitigating these aspects requires strategic supplier-client collaboration focused on end-to-end supply chain integration.

Indeed, most sustainability initiatives can only be achieved through integrated strategies between clients and suppliers.

These strategies, which, as noted, require negotiated trade-offs, tend to yield more efficient outcomes when both parties share aligned sustainability goals.

Sustainability objectives have only recently become part of corporate global strategies, which is why many clients have yet to fully prioritize them. This inherently complicates the management of such integrated approaches when sustainability isn't a shared priority for both sides.

This hurdle can be overcome by leveraging the very ability to develop effective integration strategies, ones capable of breaking through partners' initial reluctance to collaborate on sustainability initiatives.

Resource-based theorists have started to recognise relational routines, such as trust, information-sharing, joint problem-solving, as scarce resources.

The capability, the "how" of collaborating, appears to travel better than physical assets, positioning collaborative capacity as an intangible asset with longevity far beyond any single green project.

As an example, P&G was able to successfully lead a contractual bundle that lowered the logistics allowance paid to retailers and simultaneously raised the minimum order quantity (MOQ) that unlocks that allowance.

Another key insight emerging from the interviews concerns how these collaborative agreements are structured.

Literature review reveals that hybrid forms of supplier-customer integration have evolved in supply chain management in recent years, including long-term partnerships, joint ventures, strategic alliances, and supplier-customer collaborations.

In the P&G's case, these integration models, such as co-managed logistics programs or vendor managed inventory (VMI), where suppliers monitor and replenish stock for customers, are governed by long-term contracts that formalize collaborative commitments while ensuring operational stability.

Moreover, P&G Italy does not own transport capacity, nor it enters equity joint ventures. Instead, the company stitches together hybrid contracts combining, long-run volume commitments, shared KPI dashboards (service, cost, CO₂, weight-fill rate), and asset-control permutations (i.e. dedicated trailers; shared loco-leasing under European intermodal systems).

This structure produces a downside-protected option: upside is captured rapidly, yet either party can pivot if the network is redesigned, market volumes collapse, or regulatory subsidies expire. As an example, P&G partnered with a key retailer through a collaborative agreement that was aimed at reducing empty mileage and improving greenhouse gas efficiency by designing a dedicated roundtrip and installing the so-called jumbo trucks (vehicles that allows a maximum load of 60 tons compared to the current 40 tons of a conventional truck). Despite the success of the partnership, after two years P&G underwent a sudden logistics network restructuring, resulting in the formal discontinuation of the initiative.

This case underscores the vulnerabilities associated with clear-low-formality agreements. Despite their operational flexibility, the lack of formal safeguards increases the risk of one-party inflicting damage on the other due to unforeseen disruptions.

As previously mentioned, these agreements depend significantly on the supply-chain structure of each individual company and on their strategic decisions related to the cost-benefit analysis of potential integrations. Generally, it has emerged that a fundamental advantage of vertical integration with customers, from a logistical perspective, lies in achieving deeper market penetration. This penetration goes far beyond the mere sharing of logistics or transportation activities. In fact, by engaging in a joint management of operations, for instance in transportation, companies like Procter & Gamble can develop a much deeper understanding of

customer needs, enabling the extension of collaborative efforts to other functional areas such as marketing, sales, inventory management, and product development. Such cross-functional cooperation creates a substantial competitive advantage that becomes challenging for competitors to replicate. However, ensuring that this advantage remains sustainable, and the partnership endures over time requires the establishment of mutual trust mechanisms. These mechanisms, which extend beyond simple contractual terms, involve a shared commitment to long-term strategic goals, transparent communication, and consistent reliability in meeting reciprocal obligations.

A clear example of these trust-based mechanisms can be observed in Vendor Managed Inventory (VMI) systems. Through VMI, P&G directly manages the customer's orders and inventory in an integrated and transparent manner. This allows the optimization of order management in terms of logistics and sustainability. Specifically, it facilitates the creation of well-planned orders, significantly increasing load density by ensuring that trucks leave warehouses fully loaded, thus enhancing the "pallet per load" ratio.

This form of integration inherently depends on a strong relationship of trust between the supplier and retailer, as the retailer effectively delegates the management of their critical inventory to P&G. Such delegation would be impossible without confidence in the supplier's operational reliability and transparency.

Furthermore, the key enabler of this complex trust-based integration is technological and process innovation. Without advanced digital tools, real-time data sharing, predictive analytics, and integrated inventory software, achieving efficient sustainable logistics outcome would not be feasible.

For instance, P&G collaborates with startups that utilize AI to design the supplychain sustainably by optimizing routes and reducing the kilometres travelled for each trip, thereby lowering CO2 emissions.

Another example involves data sharing among P&G, retailers, logistics providers, and in some instances, even competitors, facilitated by a third-party organization

acting as a neutral intermediary to ensure privacy and trust among the parties involved. This approach enables synergistic benefits in terms of both cost reduction and decreased CO₂ emissions.

Hence, technology emerges as another essential element for successfully operationalizing sustainability initiatives, especially when companies pursue ambitious strategies.

These advanced technological capabilities allow suppliers and customers to build joint visibility into demand patterns, manage risks proactively, and maintain the high level of trust required to ensure sustainability goals are not only met but continuously improved over the long term.

4.2 Discussion

The discussion of the findings from this qualitative analysis of green logistics strategies reveal several important themes and insights that are essential for enhancing and understanding how vertical quasi-integration contributes to the development of a more sustainable supply chain.

The previous chapters outlined several levers for reducing the environmental impact of logistics operations. Many of the strategies discussed, such as optimizing routes, maximizing load efficiency, using appropriate equipment and resources, are well-known to logistics professionals. These principles have long been applied to cut costs and enhance service quality. Today, as sustainability has become a disruptive priority for businesses, it is necessary to recalibrate the traditional cost-service paradigm. Especially in green logistics, sustainability is not a standalone initiative but an integral part of the same paradigm, summarized by the SCS triangle (Service, Cost, Sustainability). It is precisely on this triangle that customer relationships are shaped, and sustainability plays a fundamental role in uncovering new trade-offs, as well as new sources of value and cost reductions.

Indeed, green logistics involves not only identifying the optimal solutions for environmental performance but also reassessing traditional strategies through an environmental perspective (Bouchery et al. 2024).

In the previous chapter, it was shown how integration strategies between customer and supplier within the supply chain can lead to tangible sustainability outcomes in various ways. Most of these strategies rely on the importance of technological advancement, mutual trust between the parties involved, and the need for a shared commitment centred on sustainability.

Therefore, the role of digitalization, and more broadly, innovation, is crucial in making all this possible.

The findings indicate that approximately one in five trucks travels empty, which is an absurd waste and a pollutant that digitalization can solve by matching demand and availability in real time.

New platforms must connect production, raw material processing, and transport industries 24/7, enabling data sharing, because innovation starts with shared data analysis.

On the other hand, innovation often demands substantial investments and a supportive organizational culture.

The substantial upfront costs associated with green technologies and infrastructure pose a major challenge, especially for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) (Reynolds 2024).

However, when it comes to sustainability, the push for innovation seems to be a necessary requisite.

As an example, P&G has invested decisively, for instance partnering with a shipping group that uses biofuel-powered vessels, even paying a premium to support greener transport.

Indeed, without those willing to invest in improvements, there will never be any progress.

Overall, the main areas of convergence of the findings highlight how vertical quasi-integration through strategic partnerships enhances sustainability outcomes by leveraging stakeholder relationships and institutional pressures.

However, to enable such partnerships, companies should embrace a cultural change, where sustainability is seen as a core component of the overall corporate strategy and collaboration as a source of competitive advantage. Indeed, firms that can overcome the traditional reluctance in collaborating and sharing information, can build an edge over those that does not fully understand the potential of such cultural shift.

Indeed, the integration of supplier-customer partnerships in logistics, aligns incentives and fosters coordinated actions, resulting in substantial operational efficiencies and sustainability benefits (Min 2015). This aligns with stakeholder theory which argues that effective stakeholder engagement through mutual goal alignment significantly enhances supply chain responsiveness and collaboration, (Li et al. 2025). Moreover, these practices emerge as strategic responses to the coercive and normative pressures outlined by institutional theory (Saeed et al. 2018), specifically regarding EU regulatory frameworks such as the Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive (CSDDD) and Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD). Indeed, proactive engagement in sustainabilityfocused vertical quasi-integration can be interpreted as both a strategic adaptation to external regulatory mandates (Sinnig and Zetzsche 2025) and a response to normative pressures, whereby companies adopt widely accepted sustainability practices to maintain legitimacy and competitive advantage (Hebaz, Oulfarsi, and Sahib Eddine 2024). Therefore, integrating collaborative strategies, relational trustbuilding (Siems, Seuring, and Schilling 2023), and advanced technological solutions (Chu and Pan 2024) not only enhances operational sustainability but also enables firms to navigate complex stakeholder and institutional environments successfully.

5.1 Managerial implications

Based on the research findings previously discussed, the following insights can be presented to practitioners and policymakers as actionable recommendations.

From a managerial perspective, an integrated approach between supplier and customer delivers significant advantages in terms of sustainability, and beyond.

This approach puts the emphasis on the critical role of collaboration and partnerships, emphasizing the need to work closely with suppliers, logistics providers, and other stakeholders to exchange best practices, launch joint initiatives, and capitalize on shared strengths.

As highlighted in the previous chapter, supply chain integration enables deeper customer penetration. This creates potential for optimizations that extend far beyond the scope of any single initiative, unlocking systemic efficiencies across the entire business of the firms.

Despite the numerous benefits of such integration, the findings also highlight several challenges.

As previously discussed, the mutual dependence between partners in a collaborative agreement can create vulnerabilities, where structural changes by one party may negatively impact the other.

Findings also emphasize the role of relational capabilities. Managers should prioritize developing and maintaining strong relational ties with key supply chain partners. Trust and effective communication mechanisms are indispensable for successful quasi-integration and the achievement of shared sustainability objectives.

Another key point is related to the role of regulation and infrastructure, which can be considered as the backbone of sustainable logistics.

Governments have a dual role in fostering a culture of collaboration between companies through regulation, which is neglected in most recent directives concerning sustainability, and guarantying investments in infrastructure that facilitate such collaboration for sustainability.

The issue of construction projects is one that businesses, which rely on efficient connections to stay competitive, have been highlighting for years.

Indeed, constant dialogue with institutions is needed, ensuring timely responses and simplifying bureaucracy, which often slows progress.

Ambitious sustainability targets can be reached only when all key public and private stakeholders are engaged and committed to fulfilling their role.

5.2 Theoretical contribution

As mentioned in previous chapters, this research extends the literature on sustainable supply chain management and supply chain integration through a qualitative investigation of the logistics strategies implemented by P&G and its customers, aiming to achieve both business and sustainability benefits.

Drawing on stakeholder and institutional theory, the research demonstrates how P&G's collaborative green-logistics initiatives align the interests of diverse supply-chain stakeholders while responding to evolving regulatory and normative pressures.

More specifically, long-term collaborations and jointly managed logistics initiatives allowed P&G to achieve a balance between service efficiency, cost savings, and sustainability targets, demonstrating how companies can integrate environmental objectives into their core business activities in response to institutional requirements.

The study contributes to institutional theory, highlighting the central role of institutions in driving incentives for sustainability, both through shared industry

standards and in the implementation of concrete sustainability plans themselves, via targeted investments.

It also extends stakeholder theory by illustrating how relational capabilities, such as trust, joint problem-solving, and information-sharing, can foster alignment of stakeholder incentives, transforming sustainability from a unilateral corporate goal into a shared objective across the supply chain.

The research further enriches stakeholder theory by conceptualizing collaborative governance as a dynamic process where power asymmetries are mitigated through formal and informal mechanisms.

This aligns with (Li et al. 2025) who argue that stakeholder engagement enhances supply chain resilience but extends their work by showing how relational routines translate stakeholder pressures into actionable sustainability strategies.

Thus, the study bridges gaps in the literature by demonstrating how these theories collectively explain not only why firms adopt sustainability practices but also how they operationalize them through collaborative strategies.

Moreover, this study brings new insights into the sustainable supply chain management literature by demonstrating how vertical quasi-integration through long-term partnerships, co-managed logistics arrangements, and digital co-innovation between different actors of the supply-chain can unlock sustainability-oriented efficiencies.

By grounding these insights in empirical evidence from P&G sustainability strategy, the research bridges theory and practice which has been rarely done within the contemporary SSCM literature.

Thus, this study makes a significant contribution to the on-going research that relates quasi-vertical integration across the supply-chain to sustainability outcomes in a specific business context by the inclusion of the aforementioned collaborative green logistics strategies as major enablers of sustainability.

5.3 Limitation and future research direction

While the research provides comprehensive insights, several limitations must be acknowledged. The case study approach, although detailed and contextually rich, inherently limits broader generalizability.

The investigation is based on a qualitative case study of P&G within the FMCG industry. While offering rich insight, the generalizability to other sectors (e.g., heavy manufacturing, retail, or services) remains to be tested. Future studies could employ multiple case comparisons to examine whether the mechanisms identified here hold across diverse industries and cultural contexts.

Moreover, the study focused exclusively on logistics within the supply chain, potentially overlooking how vertical quasi-integration affects other critical supply chain areas such as procurement, manufacturing, or product design.

Future research could extend this study by exploring these additional areas, evaluating how vertical quasi-integration impacts sustainability across the entire supply chain lifecycle. Moreover, comparative case studies across different industries could provide deeper insights into the effectiveness and adaptability of quasi-integration strategies in diverse operational contexts.

For example, since differences in regulatory frameworks, subsidy schemes, and infrastructure availability can shape the feasibility and design of quasi-integration contracts, comparative studies across regions with varying policy regimes would shed light on institutional contingencies that either enable or constrain sustainable collaboration and integration strategies.

Finally, quantitative analyses could further validate and enrich the qualitative findings, offering more generalizable conclusions and stronger empirical support for vertical quasi-integration as a strategic pathway to achieving sustainable supply chains.

5.4 Conclusions

The purpose of this research was to elicit and analyse the different modes of supply-chain integration and their potential to enhance the sustainability of global supply-chains. As seen in the previous chapters, sustainable goals are increasingly becoming a core component of corporate strategies.

However, achieving sustainability requires having to deal with tough challenges and can be successfully addressed only through effective strategies.

This dissertation argues that supply-chain integration might represent an opportunity for firms to reduce the environmental impact of their logistics activities, aiming to provide companies with actionable insights from a case study directly conducted by the author at P&G as an intern in their logistics department. In order to provide an answer to the research question "How does vertical quasiintegration contribute to the development of a more sustainable supply chain?", a qualitative analysis has been conducted, interviewing seven managers and directors at P&G who had worked on green logistics projects that involved the direct participation of customers. The results show that vertical quasi-integration fosters deeper collaboration between companies and their strategic partners, enabling the alignment of sustainability goals across the supply chain. Such partnerships, formalized through long-term contracts and shared objectives, facilitate coordinated sustainability initiatives, which yield substantial environmental benefits. Cooperative agreements, like those analysed throughout this research, show how integrated approaches can dramatically reduce environmental impacts through optimized logistics management, improved load efficiencies, and minimized transportation emissions.

As seen, quasi-vertical integration with customers yields significant benefits and, in many cases, becomes essential for achieving ambitious sustainability goals. However, implementing projects that require customer integration demands several key prerequisites, including complex trade-offs in balancing service quality, cost efficiency, and sustainability goals.

Other disadvantages of such collaborative partnerships could be related to structural adjustments in one partner's logistics strategy which may adversely affect the other.

Furthermore, the role of government is crucial to foster a culture of collaboration for sustainability.

The most recent European regulation neglects the role of public entities in stimulating collaboration between companies across the supply-chain.

Public intervention is also fundamental in creating efficient infrastructure that can sustain private endeavours for sustainability.

Indeed, initial costs associated with implementing sustainable innovations and infrastructure pose notable barriers, especially for smaller partners within the supply chain.

Lastly, the findings also the importance of technology as a pivotal enabler in quasiintegration strategies. Advanced technological tools, such as real-time data sharing platforms, predictive analytics, and digital inventory management systems, are indispensable in ensuring the effectiveness of integrated sustainability initiatives. The innovative use of digital solutions to manage logistical operations not only enhances environmental sustainability but also significantly reduces operational costs, reinforcing the interdependence of cost efficiency and sustainability.

REFERENCES

- Beamish, Paul W., and John C. Banks. 1987. 'Equity Joint Ventures and the Theory of the Multinational Enterprise'. *Journal of International Business Studies* 18 (2): 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8490403.
- Birt, Linda, Suzanne Scott, Debbie Cavers, Christine Campbell, and Fiona Walter. 2016. 'Member Checking'. *Qualitative Health Research* 26 (November):1802–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870.
- Björk, Lisa, Inge Vierth, and Kevin Cullinane. 2023. 'Freight Modal Shift: A Means or an Objective in Achieving Lower Emission Targets? The Case of Sweden'. *Transport Policy* 142:125–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2023.08.013.
- Bouchery, Yann, Charles J Corbett, Jan C Fransoo, and Tarkan Tan. 2024. Supply Chain Management Sustainable Supply Chains A Research-Based Textbook on Operations and Strategy. Vol. 23.
- Chassagnon, Virgile. 2014. 'Beyond Markets and Hierarchies: An Economic Analysis of Vertical Quasi-Integration'. *Revue de Philosophie Économique* Vol. 15 (1): 135–65. https://doi.org/10.3917/rpec.151.0135.
- Chaudhuri, Atanu, Manjot Singh Bhatia, Yasanur Kayikci, Kiran J. Fernandes, and Samuel Fosso-Wamba. 2023. 'Improving Social Sustainability and Reducing Supply Chain Risks through Blockchain Implementation: Role of Outcome and Behavioural Mechanisms'. *Annals of Operations Research* 327 (1): 401–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479021-04307-6.
- Chen, Lujie, Xiande Zhao, Ou Tang, Lydia Price, Shanshan Zhang, and Wenwen Zhu. 2017. 'Supply Chain Collaboration for Sustainability: A Literature Review and Future Research Agenda'. *International Journal of Production Economics* 194 (March): 73–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.04.005.
- Cheung, Dennis, Richard Welford, and Peter Hills. 2009. 'CSR and the Environment: Business Supply Chain Partnerships in Hong Kong and PRDR, China'. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management* 16 (September):250–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.208.

- Chu, Chih Hsing, and Jie Ke Pan. 2024. 'A Systematic Review on Extended Reality Applications for Sustainable Manufacturing Across the Product Lifecycle'. *International Journal of Precision Engineering and Manufacturing Green Technology* 11 (3): 1017–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40684-023-00567-8.
- Cristini, Guido, Cristina Zerbini, and Giada Salvietti. 2021. 'Sustainable Supply Chain Management: A Literature Review'. *Micro and Macro Marketing* 30 (1): 19–42. https://doi.org/10.1431/100335.
- Crowe, Sarah, Kathrin Cresswell, Ann Robertson, Guro Huby, Anthony Avery, and Aziz Sheikh. 2011. 'The Case Study Approach'. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 11 (1): 100. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-11-100.
- Dikshit, Srishti, Areeba Atiq, Mohammad Shahid, Vinay Dwivedi, and Aarushi Thusu. 2023. 'The Use of Artificial Intelligence to Optimize the Routing of Vehicles and Reduce Traffic Congestion in Urban Areas'. *EAI Endorsed Transactions on Energy Web* 10:1–13. https://doi.org/10.4108/EW.4613.
- DiMaggio, Paul, and Walter Powell. 2000. "The Iron Cage Revisited: Isomorphism in Organizational Fields". *American Sociological Review* 48 (July):147–60. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095101.
- Duong, An Thi Binh, Tho Pham, Huy Truong Quang, Thinh Gia Hoang, Scott McDonald, Thu Hang Hoang, and Hai Thanh Pham. 2023. 'Ripple Effect of Disruptions on Performance in Supply Chains: An Empirical Study'. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management* 31 (13): 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1108/ECAM-10-2022-0924.
- Duong, An Thi Binh, Vinh Xuan Vo, Maria do Sameiro Carvalho, Paulo Sampaio, and Huy Quang Truong. 2023. 'Risks and Supply Chain Performance: Globalization and COVID-19 Perspectives'. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management* 72 (7): 1962–86. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-03-2021-0179.
- Dzwigol, Henryk, Nataliia Trushkina, and Aleksy Kwilinski. 2021. 'The Organizational and Economic Mechanism of Implementing the Concept of Green Logistics'. *Virtual Economics* 4 (2): 41–75. https://doi.org/10.34021/ve.2021.04.02(3).

- Eisenhardt, Kathleen M., and Melissa E. Graebner. 2007. 'Theory Building from Cases: Opportunities and Challenges'. *Academy of Management Journal* 50 (1): 25–32. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMJ.2007.24160888.
- Farooque, Muhammad, Abraham Zhang, Matthias Thürer, Ting Qu, and Donald Huisingh. 2019. 'Circular Supply Chain Management: A Definition and Structured Literature Review'. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 228:882–900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.04.303.
- Flynn, Barbara B., Baofeng Huo, and Xiande Zhao. 2010. 'The Impact of Supply Chain Integration on Performance: A Contingency and Configuration Approach'. *Journal of Operations Management* 28 (1): 58–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2009.06.001.
- Foerstl, Kai, Anni Kaisa Kähkönen, Constantin Blome, and Matthias Goellner. 2021. 'Supply Market Orientation: A Dynamic Capability of the Purchasing and Supply Management Function'. *Supply Chain Management* 26 (1): 65–83. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-06-2019-0233.
- Gibbert, Michael, and Winfried Ruigrok. 2010. 'The "What" and "How" of Case Study Rigor: Three Strategies Based on Published Work'. *Organizational Research Methods* 13 (October):710–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428109351319.
- Gonzalez-Calderon, Carlos A., John Jairo Posada-Henao, Carlos Andrés Granada-Muñoz, Diana Patricia Moreno-Palacio, and Guillermo Arcila-Mena. 2022. 'Cargo Bicycles as an Alternative to Make Sustainable Last-Mile Deliveries in Medellin, Colombia'. *Case Studies on Transport Policy* 10 (2): 1172–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstp.2022.04.006.
- Grzelak, Karolina, and Marek Matejun. 2013. 'Franchising as a Concept of Entrepreneurship Development in the SME Sector'. *Modern Entrepreneurship in Business Practice: Selected Issues*, no. October, 47–61.
- Hebaz, Ali, Salah Oulfarsi, and Abdelhak Sahib Eddine. 2024. 'Prioritizing Institutional Pressures, Green Supply Chain Management Practices for Corporate Sustainable Performance Using Best Worst Method'. *Cleaner Logistics and Supply Chain* 10 (February): 100146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clscn.2024.100146.
- Hofer, Christian, Georg Jäger, and Manfred Füllsack. 2018. 'Large Scale Simulation of CO2 Emissions Caused by Urban Car Traffic: An Agent-

- Based Network Approach'. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 183:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.02.113.
- Jr, E Powell Robinson. 2005. 'The Impact of E-Replenishment Strategy on Make-to-Order Supply Chain Performance' 36 (1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5915.2005.00065.x.
- Karmaker, Chitra Lekha, A. B.M.Mainul Bari, Md Zahidul Anam, Tazim Ahmed, Syed Mithun Ali, Diego Augusto de Jesus Pacheco, and Md Abdul Moktadir. 2023. 'Industry 5.0 Challenges for Post-Pandemic Supply Chain Sustainability in an Emerging Economy'. *International Journal of Production Economics* 258 (May 2022): 108806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2023.108806.
- Keulen, Maarten van, and Julian Kirchherr. 2021. 'The Implementation of the Circular Economy: Barriers and Enablers in the Coffee Value Chain'. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 281:125033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.125033.
- Khan, Syed Abdul Rehman, Zhang Yu, Heris Golpira, Arshian Sharif, and Abbas Mardani. 2021. 'A State-of-the-Art Review and Meta-Analysis on Sustainable Supply Chain Management: Future Research Directions'. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 278:123357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123357.
- Lavarda, Rosalia Barbosa, and Christiane Ferreira Bellucci. 2022. 'Case Study as a Suitable Method to Research Strategy as Practice Perspective'. *Qualitative Report* 27 (2): 539–54. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2022.4296.
- Leach, Felix, Gautam Kalghatgi, Richard Stone, and Paul Miles. 2020. 'The Scope for Improving the Efficiency and Environmental Impact of Internal Combustion Engines'. *Transportation Engineering* 1 (May). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.treng.2020.100005.
- Li, Xuefei, Yi Li, Gang Li, and Jinpeng Xu. 2025. 'And Performance: The Moderating Effect Of', 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-025-04676-4.
- Liao, Shu Hsien, and Fang I. Kuo. 2014. 'The Study of Relationships between the Collaboration for Supply Chain, Supply Chain Capabilities and Firm Performance: A Case of the Taiwans TFT-LCD Industry'. *International*

- Journal of Production Economics 156:295–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.06.020.
- Mason, Katy, Peter Doyle, and Veronica Wong. 2006. 'Market Orientation and Quasi-Integration: Adding Value through Relationships'. *Industrial Marketing Management* 35 (2): 140–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2005.01.005.
- Matemilola, Saheed. 2020. 'Encyclopedia of Sustainable Management'. *Encyclopedia of Sustainable Management*, no. September 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-02006-4.
- McWilliams, Abagail, and Samuel Gray. 1970. 'Understanding Quasi-Integration'. *Journal of Business Strategies* 12 (1): 69–85. https://doi.org/10.54155/jbs.12.1.69-85.
- Meixell, Mary, and Patrice Luoma. 2015. 'Stakeholder Pressure in Sustainable Supply Chain Management: A Systematic Review'. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management* 45 (March):69–89. https://doi.org/10.1108/JJPDLM-05-2013-0155.
- Menke, Clara, Malte Hüsemann, and Erik Siems. 2021. 'Stakeholder Influence on Sustainable Supply Chain Management: A Case Study of a German Apparel Frontrunner'. *Frontiers in Sustainability* 2 (October): 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/frsus.2021.735123.
- Min, Hokey. 2015. The Essentials of Supply Chain Management: New Concepts and Applications.
- Negri, Marta, Enrico Cagno, Claudia Colicchia, and Joseph Sarkis. 2021. 'Integrating Sustainability and Resilience in the Supply Chain: A Systematic Literature Review and a Research Agenda'. *Business Strategy and the Environment* 30 (7): 2858–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2776.
- Ngo, Vu Minh, Huy Truong Quang, Thinh Gia Hoang, and A Duong Thi Binh. 2024. 'Sustainability-Related Supply Chain Risks and Supply Chain Performances: The Moderating Effects of Dynamic Supply Chain Management Practices'. *Business Strategy and the Environment* 33 (2): 839–57. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.3512.
- Odobaša, Rajko, and Katarina Marošević. 2023. 'Expected Contributions of the European Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (Csrd) To the Sustainable Development of the European Union'. *Digitalization and*

- Green Transformation of the EU 7:593–612. https://doi.org/10.25234/eclic/27463.
- Oliveri, Ludovica Maria, Diego D'Urso, Natalia Trapani, and Ferdinando Chiacchio. 2023. 'Electrifying Green Logistics: A Comparative Life Cycle Assessment of Electric and Internal Combustion Engine Vehicles'. *Energies* 16 (23). https://doi.org/10.3390/en16237688.
- Oshiro, Ken, Toshihiko Masui, and Mikiko Kainuma. 2018. 'Transformation of Japan's Energy System to Attain Net-Zero Emission by 2050'. *Carbon Management* 9 (5): 493–501. https://doi.org/10.1080/17583004.2017.1396842.
- Priya, Arya. 2021. 'Case Study Methodology of Qualitative Research: Key Attributes and Navigating the Conundrums in Its Application'. *Sociological Bulletin* 70 (1): 94–110. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038022920970318.
- Purmaissur, Jannish A., Praveer Towakel, Shivanand P. Guness, Amar Seeam, and Xavier A. Bellekens. 2018. 'Augmented-Reality Computer-Vision Assisted Disaggregated Energy Monitoring and IoT Control Platform'. 2018 International Conference on Intelligent and Innovative Computing Applications, ICONIC 2018, no. December 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICONIC.2018.8601199.
- Qazi, Asad Ali, and Andrea Appolloni. 2022. 'A Systematic Review on Barriers and Enablers toward Circular Procurement Management'. *Sustainable Production and Consumption* 33:343–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2022.07.013.
- Qazi, Asad Ali, Andrea Appolloni, and Abdul Rehman Shaikh. 2024. 'Does the Stakeholder's Relationship Affect Supply Chain Resilience and Organizational Performance? Empirical Evidence from the Supply Chain Community of Pakistan'. *International Journal of Emerging Markets* 19 (7): 1879–1900. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOEM-08-2021-1218.
- Rasheed, Tahir. 2022. 'Supply Chain Sustainability Through Green Practices in Manufacturing: A Case Study from Pakistan'. *South Asian Journal of Operations and Logistics* 1 (1): 57–71. https://doi.org/10.57044/sajol.2022.1.1.2205.
- Rejeb, Abderahman, Karim Rejeb, Yasanur Kayikci, Andrea Appolloni, and Horst Treiblmaier. 2023. *Mapping the Knowledge Domain of Green*

- Procurement: A Review and Bibliometric Analysis. Environment, Development and Sustainability. Vol. 26. Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-023-03948-w.
- Reynolds, Samantha. 2024. 'Sustainable Supply Chain Practices- A Qualitative Investigation of Green Logistics Strategies Sustainable Supply Chain Practices A Qualitative Investigation of Green Logistics Strategies'. https://doi.org/10.20944/preprints202406.1089.v1.
- Saeed, Amer, Yun Jun, Saviour Ayertey Nubuor, Hewawasam Puwakpitiyage RasikaPriyankara, and Mahabaduge Prasad Fernando Jayasuriya. 2018. 'Institutional Pressures, Green Supply Chain Management Practices on Environmental and Economic Performance: A Two Theory View'. *Sustainability* (Switzerland) 10 (5): 1–24. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10051517.
- Sajjad, Aymen, Gabriel Eweje, and David Tappin. 2015. 'Sustainable Supply Chain Management: Motivators and Barriers'. *Business Strategy and the Environment* 24 (7): 643–55. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1898.
- Scott, W. 2014. 'W. Richard SCOTT (1995), Institutions and Organizations. Ideas, Interests and Identities.' *M@n@gement* 17 (January):136. https://doi.org/10.3917/mana.172.0136.
- Seuring, Stefan, and Martin Müller. 2008. 'From a Literature Review to a Conceptual Framework for Sustainable Supply Chain Management'. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 16 (15): 1699–1710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2008.04.020.
- Shahzad, Fakhar, Jianguo Du, Imran Khan, and Jian Wang. 2022. 'Decoupling Institutional Pressure on Green Supply Chain Management Efforts to Boost Organizational Performance: Moderating Impact of Big Data Analytics Capabilities'. *Frontiers in Environmental Science* 10 (May): 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2022.911392.
- Sharfman, Mark, Teresa Shaft, and Robert Anex. 2009. 'The Road to Cooperative Supply-Chain Environmental Management: Trust and Uncertainty Among Pro-Active Firms'. *Business Strategy and the Environment* 18 (January):1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.580.
- Sheth, Jagdish N., and Can Uslay. 2023. 'The Geopolitics of Supply Chains: Assessing the Consequences of the Russo-Ukrainian War for B2B

- Relationships'. *Journal of Business Research* 166 (October 2022): 114120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2023.114120.
- Siems, Erik, Stefan Seuring, and Lara Schilling. 2023. 'Stakeholder Roles in Sustainable Supply Chain Management: A Literature Review'. *Journal of Business Economics* 93 (4): 747–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11573-022-01117-5.
- Sinnig, Julia, and Dirk A. Zetzsche. 2025. 'The EU's Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive: From Disclosure to Mandatory Prevention of Adverse Sustainability Impacts in Supply Chains'. *European Journal of Risk Regulation*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1017/err.2024.100.
- Steiner, Benedikt, Christopher Münch, Markus Beckmann, and Heiko von der Gracht. 2024. 'Developing Net-Zero Carbon Supply Chains in the European Manufacturing Industry a Multilevel Perspective'. *Supply Chain Management*, no. November. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-06-2024-0372.
- Stonebraker, Peter W., and Jianwen Liao. 2004. 'Environmental Turbulence, Strategic Orientation: Modeling Supply Chain Integration'. *International Journal of Operations and Production Management* 24 (10): 1037–54. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570410558067.
- Sudusinghe, Jayani Ishara, and Stefan Seuring. 2022. 'Supply Chain Collaboration and Sustainability Performance in Circular Economy: A Systematic Literature Review'. *International Journal of Production Economics* 245 (September 2020): 108402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108402.
- Tapaninaho, Riikka, and Johanna Kujala. 2019. Reviewing the Stakeholder Value Creation Literature: Towards a Sustainability Approach BT Social Responsibility and Sustainability: How Businesses and Organizations Can Operate in a Sustainable and Socially Responsible Way. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-03562-4.
- Thiede, Sebastian, Roy Damgrave, and Eric Lutters. 2022. 'Mixed Reality towards Environmentally Sustainable Manufacturing Overview, Barriers and Design Recommendations'. *Procedia CIRP* 105 (March): 308–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2022.02.051.
- Turker, Duygu, and Ceren Altuntas. 2014. 'Sustainable Supply Chain Management in the Fast Fashion Industry: An Analysis of Corporate

- Reports'. *European Management Journal* 32 (5): 837–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2014.02.001.
- Wittstruck, David, and Frank Teuteberg. 2012. 'Understanding the Success Factors of Sustainable Supply Chain Management: Empirical Evidence from the Electrics and Electronics Industry'. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management (Formerly Eco-Management and Auditing)* 19 (May). https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.261.
- Xu, Xiaoyan, Tsan Ming Choi, Sai Ho Chung, and Shu Guo. 2023. 'Collaborative-Commerce in Supply Chains: A Review and Classification of Analytical Models'. *International Journal of Production Economics* 263 (May): 108922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2023.108922.
- Zheng, Pai, Yuan Lin, Chun Hsien Chen, and Xun Xu. 2019. 'Smart, Connected Open Architecture Product: An IT-Driven Co-Creation Paradigm with Lifecycle Personalization Concerns'. *International Journal of Production Research* 57 (8): 2571–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1530475.
- Zhu, Qinghua, Joseph Sarkis, and Kee hung Lai. 2013. 'Institutional-Based Antecedents and Performance Outcomes of Internal and External Green Supply Chain Management Practices'. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management* 19 (2): 106–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2012.12.001.